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1

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Christina Achey, a resident of Pennsylvania, entered into an agreement for a 

payday loan with an online lender, MNE Services, which is owned and operated by the Miami 

Tribe of Oklahoma. When she obtained the loan, Achey authorized the lender to electronically 

debit her bank account as payments came due. Achey now alleges that the loan was usurious 

under Pennsylvania law and seeks relief. But instead of pursuing claims against her lender, 

Achey filed this putative class action against BMO Harris Bank, N.A. (“BMO Harris”). 

According to Achey, BMO Harris should be held liable for processing electronic fund transfers 

between her and her lender, an otherwise routine banking function.    

Achey’s complaint should be dismissed for several reasons. First, pursuant to Rules 

12(b)(7) and 19, Achey’s complaint fails because she did not join her lender as a defendant. Each 

of Achey’s claims requires a determination that Pennsylvania law applies to her agreement with 

her lender and that the agreement violates Pennsylvania law. Achey also seeks equitable relief 

that significantly affects the lender’s interests, including a permanent injunction that would 

require BMO Harris to stop payment to the lender of funds already debited from borrowers. 

Because the lender is presumptively immune from suit and cannot be joined, Achey’s suit should 

be dismissed. 

Second, even if Achey could somehow overcome her failure to join her lender, Achey’s 

complaint fails for the independently dispositive reason that she has not stated plausible claims 

for relief under Rule 12(b)(6). To start, Achey’s Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations 

Act (“RICO”) claim is without merit. Achey seeks an unprecedented expansion of RICO liability 

to cover any defendant that “participate[s] in the collection of unlawful debts.” Compl. ¶ 96. That 

is not what RICO says. Achey falls far short of pleading a viable civil RICO claim against BMO 
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Harris. In addition, Achey fails to state plausible Pennsylvania state law claims against BMO 

Harris. For these reasons, the complaint should be dismissed.1

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Achey’s claims against BMO Harris involve BMO Harris’s role in the ACH network, an 

electronic payment processing system in which financial institutions accumulate transactions 

throughout the day for later batch processing. Compl. ¶ 27.  

An ACH transaction has several steps. Id. ¶ 32. First, a customer authorizes a transaction 

with a merchant—the business or person providing a good or service. Id. Second, the merchant 

(an “Originator”) communicates the authorization either directly to a bank and member of the 

ACH network (an “Originating Depository Financial Institution” or “ODFI”), or through a third 

party that has an agreement with the ODFI (a “Third-Party Sender”). Id. ¶¶ 32-33. Third, the 

ODFI transmits the authorization through an “ACH Operator” to the customer’s bank (a 

“Receiving Depository Financial Institution” or “RDFI”). Id. ¶ 32. The RDFI is also a member 

of the ACH network, and is the entity that actually makes the debit on its customer’s checking or 

savings account. Id. An entity known as “NACHA” manages the development, administration, 

and governance of the ACH network. Id. ¶ 31.

In October 2012 and July 2013, Achey obtained two payday loans for $200 and $350 

from MNE Services, Inc., doing business as AmeriLoan, which is owned and operated by the 

Miami Tribe of Oklahoma. Id. ¶¶ 13a, 70, 74; see also Oct. 10, 2012 Loan Note and Disclosure 

(attached as Ex. A); July 10, 2013 Loan Note and Disclosure (attached as Exhibit B); BMO 

                                                
1 BMO Harris has separately moved to compel arbitration and stay litigation of the claims against 
it. BMO Harris respectfully requests that the Court first resolve the threshold question raised by 
that motion—whether this case should be sent to arbitration—before considering this motion, 
which is submitted in the alternative.  
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Harris’s Motion to Compel Arbitration Ranlett Declaration Exhibit 5, Declaration of Natalie 

Dempsey at ¶ 2.2 As part of the application process, Achey authorized her lender to debit her 

checking account with People First Federal Credit Union in order to repay the loans. Compl. ¶¶ 

70, 74. When one of Achey’s payments came due, her lender originated a transaction on the 

ACH network for $105 with BMO Harris purportedly serving as the ODFI. Id. ¶ 78. 

Achey filed this action on behalf of herself and the members of a putative class of 

residents in 14 jurisdictions that have banned payday loans. Compl. ¶¶ 1-5. Achey did not name 

MNE Services or the Miami Tribe of Oklahoma as a defendant, although she did identify her 

lender in the complaint as “other persons and entities.” Id. ¶ 13a. Achey asserts claims against 

BMO Harris for purportedly (1) violating and conspiring to violate RICO, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c)-

(d), (2) aiding and abetting MNE Services’s alleged violations of Pennsylvania’s maximum 

interest rate and consumer credit laws, and (3) for assumpsit and unjust enrichment.

Achey seeks to permanently enjoin BMO Harris “from serving as the ODFI for Out-Of-

State Payday Lenders” and asks the Court to “direct[] [BMO Harris] to immediately credit to all 

Illegal Online Payday Lender borrowers, any money it has debited from borrowers’ accounts but 

has not yet remitted to Illegal Online Payday Lenders.” Compl. ¶ 142. Achey also seeks to 

recover alleged monetary damages, including a “refund of every ACH debit from [each class 

member’s] account in which BMO was the ODFI. . . .” Id. at pp. 31-33. As shown below, 

Achey’s complaint both fails to join an indispensable party and fails to state a claim and, 

accordingly, should be dismissed. 

                                                
2 For purposes of Rule 12(b)(7) and 19, the Court “is not limited to the pleadings.” 5C Charles 
Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1359 (3d ed. 2007). 
Moreover, even under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court may consider documents such as the loan 
agreement which are referenced in the complaint and central to the plaintiff’s claims. See, e.g., 
Menominee Indian Tribe v. Thompson, 161 F.3d 449, 456 (7th Cir.1998).
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ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiff Failed To Join An Indispensable Party: Her Lender.

Rule 19 requires dismissal where, as here, an indispensable party cannot be joined. 

Rule 19 involves a two step inquiry. First, the court must determine “whether an entity is a 

necessary party or, in the nomenclature of Rule 19, a ‘Person to be Joined if Feasible.’” United 

States v. Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d 476, 478 (7th Cir. 1996). A party is necessary if:  

(A) in that person’s absence, the court cannot accord complete relief among 
existing parties; or (B) that person claims an interest relating to the subject of the 
action and is so situated that disposing of the action in the person’s absence may: 
(i) as a practical matter impair or impede the person’s ability to protect the 
interest; or (ii) leave an existing party subject to a substantial risk of incurring 
double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations because of the interest.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a). 

Second, “if the necessary party cannot be joined, the court must decide ‘whether in equity 

and good conscience the action should proceed among the parties before it, or should be 

dismissed, the absent person being thus regarded as indispensable.’” Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d 

at 479 (quoting Rule 19(b)). Rule 19(b) identifies four factors for courts to consider:

(1) the extent to which a judgment rendered in the person’s absence might 
prejudice that person or the existing parties; (2) the extent to which any prejudice 
could be lessened or avoided by: (A) protective provisions in the judgment; (B) 
shaping the relief; or (C) other measures; (3) whether a judgment rendered in the 
person’s absence would be adequate; and (4) whether the plaintiff would have an 
adequate remedy if the action were dismissed for non-joinder.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b). Rule 19(b) allows courts “to determine the emphasis to be placed on each 

consideration according to the facts of the given case and in light of the governing equity-and-

good conscience test,” but when a party is immune, “there is very little room for balancing of 

other factors set out in rule 19(b), because immunity may be viewed as one of those interests 

compelling by themselves.” Fluent v. Salamanci Indian Lease Auth., 928 F.2d 542, 547-48 (2d 
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Cir. 1991) (quotations and citations omitted); see also Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d at 479 (“A 

plaintiff’s inability to seek relief . . . does not automatically preclude dismissal, particularly 

where that inability results from a tribe’s exercise of its right to sovereign immunity.”)

As a party to the loan agreements at issue, MNE Services is both a necessary and 

indispensable party. In Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d at 479, the Seventh Circuit stressed that “it is 

worth repeating the oft-quoted observation . . . that ‘[n]o procedural principle is more deeply 

embedded in the common law than that, in an action to set aside a lease or contract, all parties 

who may be affected by the determination of the action are indispensable.’” (Citation omitted.) 

See also id. (“A judicial declaration as to the validity of a contract necessarily affects, ‘as a 

practical matter,’ the interests of both parties to the contract.”); Kermanshah v. Kermanshah, 

2010 WL 1904135, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. May 11, 2010) (“‘It is well established that a party to a 

contract which is the subject of litigation is considered a necessary party.’”) (citation omitted); 

Hill v. Coulter, 1998 WL 460239, at *1-2 (N.D.N.Y. July 31, 1998) (“prejudice is almost 

presumed given that a contracting party is often the prime example of illustrating a prejudiced 

party”); Global Discount Travel Servs., LLC v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 960 F. Supp. 701, 708 

(S.D.N.Y. 1997) (Sotomayor, J.) (a contracting party’s “attempts to protect its interest . . . may 

be practically impaired or impeded by proceeding with this action in its absence”). 

For example, in Hardy v. IGT, Inc., 2011 WL 3583745, *1 (M.D. Ala. Aug. 15, 2011), 

the plaintiff alleged that he lost money playing electronic bingo at casinos owned by the Poarch 

Band of Creek Indians. But instead of suing the tribe, the plaintiff brought claims on behalf of 

himself and a putative class against the manufacturers of the bingo machines. The plaintiff 

asserted a claim under Ala. Code § 8-1-150(a), which allows individuals to recover their losses 
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from illegal gambling. Id. at *4. The court concluded that the tribe was an indispensable party 

and dismissed the claims against the manufacturers. Id. at *8. As the court explained: 

Necessary to [plaintiff’s] state law cause of action is a determination that the 
electronic bingo played on the Tribe’s real estate and in its Casinos violates 
Alabama and/or federal law. One struggles to envision a more severe practical 
impediment to the Tribe’s interests in its Casinos and related business 
arrangements. . . . Were this action to proceed in the absence of the Tribe, the 
validity and viability of the Tribe’s contracts with the Manufacturers would be 
impeded, [and] the enforceability of gambling contracts between gamblers and the 
Tribe would be called into question. 

Id. at *5 (citations omitted). See also Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d at 480 (“In a larger sense, the 

precedent set by rescission of transactions freely entered by the tribes would likely be extremely 

prejudicial to the tribes’ long term interest in Indian gaming and the revenue it provides.”); 

Yashenko v. Harrah’s NC Casino Co., 446 F.3d 541, 552-53 (4th Cir. 2006) (holding that where 

Harrah’s had a management agreement with an Indian tribe to operate a casino, a former 

employee’s discrimination claim against Harrah’s had to be dismissed under Rule 19 because 

“such a claim would threaten ‘to impair the [Tribe’s] contractual interests, and thus, its 

fundamental economic relationship with’ the private party, as well as ‘its sovereign capacity to 

negotiate contracts and, in general, to govern’ the reservation.”) (citations omitted).

A plaintiff also cannot avoid joining a contracting party by pleading tort claims that 

nonetheless challenge a contract’s validity. See, e.g., Kermanshah, 2010 WL 1904135, at *5 

(dismissing claims for failure to join a contracting party that were “inextricably intertwined with 

and derived from the alleged contractual relationship”); Ente Nazionale Idrocarburi v. 

Prudential Sec. Group, Inc., 744 F. Supp. 450, 459-60 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (“[a]lthough [plaintiff] 

argues that it is suing . . . in tort here, and that the contract action . . . is entirely separate . . ., we 

believe that such an argument elevates form over substance”; “it would be necessary for us to 

construe several of the critical provisions of the Agreement”). 
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Each of Achey’s claims against BMO Harris collaterally attacks her loan agreements with 

MNE Services and requires a determination that the agreements violate Pennsylvania law. See, 

e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 94a, 100a (alleging that the agreements are “unenforceable under State or Federal 

law in whole or in part as to principal or interest because of the laws relating to usury”); ¶¶ 106, 

111-13, 124-25, 133-34 (alleging that the agreements violate Pennsylvania law). As a result, all 

of Achey’s claims against BMO Harris in this case would require the Court to determine the 

legality and enforceability of her loan agreements with MNE Services.  

MNE Services’s interest is further heightened because of the equitable relief sought by 

Achey. In particular, Achey seeks an injunction that would require BMO Harris to divert funds 

otherwise belonging to MNE Services to Achey and other borrowers. Id. ¶ 142 (“BMO [Harris] 

should be . . . directed to immediately credit to all . . . borrowers, any money it has debited from 

borrowers’ accounts but has not yet remitted to Out-Of-State Payday Lenders.”). MNE Services 

certainly has an interest to protect with respect any funds already debited on its behalf.

Achey also seeks to prohibit BMO Harris from serving as an ODFI for MNE Services. Id.

But as Achey alleges, “NACHA Rules require ODFIs to enter into a written agreement with 

every Third-Party Sender or Originator (or merchant) for whom they originate ACH entries.” Id.

¶ 44. The injunction sought by Achey would effectively void any such origination agreements, 

prejudicing MNE Services. See Tribal Dev. Corp., 100 F.3d at 479; see also Hill, 1998 WL 

460239, at *2 (holding that the Onondaga Tribe would be “substantially prejudiced” if it was not 

a party to a lawsuit seeking a declaration that its contract violated federal law). Thus, “where, as 

here, equitable relief is sought in addition to monetary damages, the presence of all parties is 

necessary.” Kermanshah, 2010 WL 1904135, at *3.
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Finally, Achey would still have an adequate remedy if this action were dismissed for 

non-joinder. As discussed in BMO Harris’s concurrently-filed motion to compel arbitration, the 

loan agreements between Achey and MNE Services provide for an arbitration process to resolve 

any disputes involving the loans. Thus, although courts have dismissed claims under Rule 19 for 

failure to join an indispensable Indian tribe where the plaintiff would then be left without any 

remedy because of the tribe’s sovereign immunity—see, e.g., Hill, 1998 WL 460239, at *2, and 

Hardy, 2011 WL 3583745, at *7-8—that is not the case here. Achey could still pursue claims 

against MNE Services under the loan agreements’ arbitration provisions because MNE Services 

waived its sovereign immunity with respect to that arbitration process. For these reasons, 

Achey’s complaint should be dismissed for failure to join her lender as a party.

II. Even Putting Aside Plaintiff’s Failure to Join Her Lender, The Complaint Fails To 
State A Civil RICO Claim.

As courts have recognized, RICO “does not cover all instances of wrongdoing. Rather, it 

is a unique cause of action that is concerned with eradicating organized, long-term, habitual 

criminal activity.” Gamboa v. Velez, 457 F.3d 703, 705 (7th Cir. 2007); see also Midwest 

Grinding Co. v. Spitz, 976 F.2d 1016, 1025 (7th Cir. 1992) (“[C]ivil RICO plaintiffs persist in 

trying to fit a square peg in a round hole by squeezing garden-variety . . . disputes into civil 

RICO actions.”). Given the potency of civil RICO claims, the frequency of their abuse, and the 

“inevitable stigmatizing effect” of a claim, “courts should strive to flush out frivolous RICO 

allegations at an early stage of the litigation.” Rothberg v. Marger, 2013 WL 1314699, at *10 

(D.N.J. Mar. 28, 2013) (quotations and citation omitted).

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 n.3 (2007), holds that Rule 8(a) 

“requires a ‘showing,’ rather than a blanket assertion, of entitlement to relief. Without some 

factual allegation in the complaint, it is hard to see how a claimant could satisfy the requirement 
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of providing not only ‘fair notice’ of the nature of the claim, but also the ‘grounds’ on which the 

claim rests.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009), clarified that to satisfy Rule 8(a)(2), 

“a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that 

is plausible on its face. A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content 

that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the 

misconduct alleged.” 

Achey alleges that BMO Harris purportedly violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), which makes it 

unlawful “for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in . . . interstate 

. . . commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s 

affairs through . . . collection of unlawful debt.” Achey also alleges that BMO Harris and MNE 

Services conspired to violate RICO. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). Achey’s civil RICO claims fail as a 

matter of law because she has not plausibly alleged that BMO Harris: (1) was “associated with 

any enterprise”; (2) purportedly “conduct[ed] or participate[d] . . . in the conduct of [the 

purported] enterprise’s affairs”; (3) engaged in “collection of unlawful debt”; or (4) had 

knowledge of the purportedly unlawful conduct. 

A. Plaintiff Fails To Plead A Cognizable RICO Enterprise.

A RICO “enterprise” includes “any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or 

other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal 

entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). The existence of an enterprise “is proved by evidence of an 

ongoing organization, formal or informal, and by evidence that the various associates function as 

a continuing unit” “associated together for a common purpose of engaging in a course of 

conduct.” United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583 (1981). The existence of an enterprise is 

“a separate element” from the alleged conduct “which must be proved by the [plaintiff].” Id.
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Achey alternatively alleges an enterprise of “multiple legal entities operated under 

NACHA” or an association-in-fact enterprise of parties that “share a common purpose of 

facilitating large volume batch processing of electronic payments.” Compl. ¶ 90.

In either case, Achey fails to plead a viable enterprise because 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) 

applies only if the “enterprise” is “in the business of making usurious loans”; allegations that 

“the defendants engaged in a scheme, but were not in the business of making usurious loans . . . 

will not satisfy the statute.” Durante Bros. & Sons v. Flushing Nat’l Bank, 755 F.2d 239, 250 (2d 

Cir. 1985) (quotations and citations omitted), cert denied sub nom Durante Bros. & Sons v. Nat’l 

Bank of New York City, 473 U.S. 906 (1985); see also United States v. Erwin, 793 F.2d 656, 671 

(5th Cir. 1986) (alleged acts “must further the affairs of the enterprise”).

Achey does not allege that the “ACH Enterprise” is in the business of making usurious 

loans. To the contrary, Achey alleges that “NACHA Rules specifically require all parties 

involved in the processing of ACH transactions to adhere to all state and federal laws” and are 

designed “to keep illicit and unlawful transactions out of the ACH Network.” Compl. ¶ 34. At 

most, Achey alleges that some payments for usurious loans end up in the ACH network, but 

“occasional usurious transactions by one not in the business of loan sharking” are “exclu[ded] 

from the scope of the statute.” Durante Bros., 755 F.2d at 250.

Achey also fails to adequately plead an association-in-fact enterprise. Allegations of an 

enterprise must set forth a “common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct.” Turkette, 452 

U.S. at 583; accord Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938, 944 (2009). As many courts have 

recognized, sweeping combinations of legitimate businesses are not proper association-in-fact 

enterprises for purposes of RICO. See, e.g., Moore v. Fid. Fin. Servs., 897 F. Supp. 378, 379 

(N.D. Ill. 1995) (rejecting attempt to plead an enterprise consisting of the combination of a bank 
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and automobile dealers with which it had relationships because enterprise was excessively 

“open-ended” and “nebulous”); In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 2007 WL 1062980, at *23-

24 (D.N.J. Apr. 5, 2007) (allegations that “implicated the entire insurance carrier industry” were 

“amorphous per se” and legally insufficient to plead an enterprise).

Jubelirer v. MasterCard Int’l, Inc., 68 F. Supp. 2d 1049 (W.D. Wis. 1999), is particularly 

instructive. In Jubelirer, the plaintiff lost money gambling online. The plaintiff claimed that the 

online casino was illegal and filed a civil RICO claim against MasterCard and MBNA American 

Bank for participating in the transfer of funds to the casino. Id. at 1051. Much like the ACH 

network, MasterCard operates an electronic system for credit card transactions and provides 

authorization, processing, and settlement services. The court rejected the plaintiff’s claim that the 

online casino, MasterCard, and MBNA were a RICO “enterprise,” explaining that “plaintiff’s 

allegations . . . would lead to the absurd conclusion that each of the many million combinations 

of merchant, MasterCard and lender is a RICO enterprise.” Id. at 1053. The court concluded that 

to extend RICO to cover such “a routine contractual combination for the provision of financial 

services” would improperly stretch RICO to reach “situations absurdly remote from the concerns 

of the statute’s framers.” Id. (quotations and citations omitted).

Achey’s alleged enterprise suffers from the same flaws identified in Jubelirer. According 

to Achey, the “ACH Enterprise” includes: (1) Originators, which “initiate[s] entries into the 

ACH Network,” (2) ODFIs, which “originate ACH entries,” (3) RDFIs, which “receive ACH 

entries,” (4) customers (including Achey herself), which “authorize[] an Originator to initiate a 

credit or debit entry,” (5) ACH Operators, which comprise the “central clearing facilities . . . that 

process ACH transactions,” and (6) Third-Party Service Providers, which perform functions on 

behalf of other participants. Id. ¶ 89. It is, in short, much of the nation’s banking industry.
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Just as in Jubelirer, Achey’s allegations “would lead to the absurd conclusion that each 

of the many million combinations of [Originator and ODFI, among others] is a RICO enterprise” 

based solely on “routine contractual” relationships and would stretch RICO to encompass 

“situations absurdly remote from the concerns of [its] framers.” Jubelirer, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 1053 

(quotations and citations omitted); see also Gregory P. Joseph, Civil RICO: A Definitive Guide

§ 11 (2d ed. 2000) (“[T]here is some doubt, based on the legislative history, that RICO was ever 

intended to be used against banking institutions.”). Such allegations would impermissibly 

“transfer an entire industry into a RICO enterprise” based on allegations of wrongdoing by a 

“handful of industry members.” Brokerage Antitrust, 2007 WL 1062980, at *19. For these 

reasons alone, Achey’s RICO claims should be dismissed as a matter of law. 

B. Plaintiff Fails To Plead That BMO Harris Conducted Or Participated In The 
Conduct Of The Enterprise’s Affairs.

To state a civil RICO claim, a plaintiff must allege that the defendant “conduct[ed] or 

participate[d], directly or indirectly, in the conduct of [the] enterprise’s affairs.” 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c). The Supreme Court has held that “[i]n order to ‘participate, directly or indirectly, in 

the conduct of [the] enterprise’s affairs,’ one must have some part in directing those affairs.” 

Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 179 (1993) (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)). Moreover, in 

cases involving debt collection, RICO requires that the defendant direct the “enterprise’s affairs 

through . . . collection of unlawful debt.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c); see also United States v. Dennis, 

458 F. Supp. 197, 199 (E.D. Mo. 1978) (“The mere fact that defendant is employed by the 

enterprise and collects unlawful debts on the premises of the enterprise, even if against such 

enterprise’s rules and regulations, does not establish that the defendant participated in the 

conduct of the enterprise’s affairs through the collection of the debts.”).
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Achey’s allegations fall far short. In the complaint (at ¶ 95), Achey alleges that BMO 

Harris “originated entries on the ACH Network at the request of Illegal Online Payday Lenders.” 

But it is black-letter law that “simply performing services for an enterprise, even with knowledge 

of the enterprise’s illicit nature, is not enough to subject an individual to RICO liability under 

§ 1962(c); instead, the individual must have participated in the operation and management of the 

enterprise itself.” Goren v. New Vision Intern., Inc., 156 F.3d 721, 728 (7th Cir. 1998); see also 

Richmond v. Nationwide Cassel L.P., 52 F.3d 640, 646 (7th Cir. 1995) (“[L]iability depends on 

showing that the defendants conducted or participated in the conduct of the ‘enterprise’s affairs,’ 

not just their own affairs.”) (quoting Reves, 507 U.S. at 185) (emphasis in original).

As a result, allegations that a defendant provided payment processing services are 

insufficient to show that a defendant directed a RICO enterprise. See, e.g., Jubelirer, 68 F. Supp. 

2d at 1053 (“[T]he law is clear that merely having a business relationship with and performing 

services for . . . an enterprise, including financial . . . services, does not support RICO liability.”); 

Walker v. Hallmark Bank & Trust, Ltd., 707 F. Supp. 2d 1317, 1321 (S.D. Fla. 2010) (dismissing 

civil RICO claims that sought to hold MasterCard liable for processing payments that benefitted 

a Ponzi scheme because the plaintiff “did not allege sufficient facts to show that [MasterCard] 

participated in the operation or management of the alleged [RICO] enterprise”); Super Vision 

Int’l, Inc. v. Mea Int’l Commercial Bank Co., 534 F. Supp. 2d 1326, 1338 (S.D. Fla. 2008) 

(dismissing civil RICO claims against a bank for facilitating a customer’s fraudulent transfers, 

holding that “[b]ankers do not become racketeers by acting like bankers” and finding it 

“noteworthy that, in this case, [plaintiff] only alleges that [the defendant bank] benefited from its 

relationship with [its customer] by receiving fees and deposits”) (quoting Terry A. Lambert 

Plumbing, Inc. v. W. Sec. Bank, 934 F.2d 976, 981 (8th Cir. 1991)).
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Achey’s allegations are nearly identical to the allegations found insufficient in Jubelirer,

Walker, and Super Vision. According to Achey, BMO Harris allegedly participated in the 

purported enterprise by “originating entries on the ACH Network, at the request of Illegal Online 

Payday Lenders.” Compl. ¶ 94. Indeed, just as in Super Vision, the only benefit that Achey 

alleges BMO Harris received came through “receipt of fees for [its] origination of debit entries 

on the ACH Network.” Id. ¶ 79. Achey does not allege that BMO Harris directed the collection 

of unlawful debts, but rather that BMO Harris acted as a payment processor for MNE Services. 

As such, Achey’s allegations do not properly plead that BMO Harris “participate[d] . . . in the 

conduct of [the purported] enterprise’s affairs.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

In an apparent attempt to avoid this shortfall, Achey alleges that BMO Harris is a “Direct 

Financial Institution Member[] of NACHA” and therefore can participate “in the NACHA Rule 

Making Process” by “voting directly on Rules ballots and by participating in and leading 

NACHA Councils, committees, and initiatives.” Compl. ¶ 31. Achey also alleges that BMO 

Harris is “eligible to serve on the NACHA Board of Directors.” Id. But Achey does not attempt 

to tie this alleged participation in NACHA to the purported wrongdoing at issue here. Indeed, 

Achey alleges that NACHA has adopted rules that are designed to keep illicit transactions out of 

the ACH network. Id. ¶ 34. As a result, these allegations do not state a plausible claim that BMO 

Harris directed the purported “enterprise’s affairs through . . . collection of unlawful debt.” 18 

U.S.C. § 1962(c).

C. BMO Harris Did Not “Collect” Unlawful Debt.  

Achey also fails to allege that BMO Harris “collect[ed] unlawful debt.” 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c) (emphasis added). RICO does not define “collection,” but one federal court of appeals 

has turned to an analogous definition in the Extortionate Credit Transactions Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 

891(5), which defines “[t]o collect an extension of credit” as “to induce in any way any person to 
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make repayment thereof.” United States v. Pepe, 747 F.2d 632, 674 (11th Cir. 1984) (concluding 

that this definition is “a proper definition of the term collection in RICO”). Such a definition is 

consistent with RICO’s legislative history, which reveals that Congress intended the statute to 

target loan sharking activities, not “banks or other lending institutions.” Sundance Land Corp. v. 

Cmty. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n, 840 F.2d 653, 667 n.19 (9th Cir. 1988). 

Achey’s complaint is devoid of any allegation that BMO “induced” payment of unlawful 

debt. Instead, Achey alleges that BMO Harris “participate[s] in the collection of unlawful debt” 

by engaging in “daily volume batch processing of electronic payments.” Compl. ¶¶ 91, 94 

(emphasis added). But Achey is attempting to rewrite RICO, which makes it unlawful only to 

“participate . . . in the conduct of [an] enterprise’s affairs through . . . collection of unlawful 

debt.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (emphasis added). RICO does not impose liability on any party who 

“participates in the collection of unlawful debt,” as Achey alleges. Indeed, as the Second Circuit 

found in United States v. Giovanelli, 945 F.2d 479, 490 (2d Cir. 1991), “[o]bviously, the 

transmission of money within an organization, regardless of that organization’s legality, does not 

constitute collection of a debt” under RICO. (Emphasis added.)

Although the electronic transactions that are batch processed on the ACH network may 

include some repayments to payday lenders, at the point when an ACH debit occurs, the 

repayment has already been “induced” by someone else without any involvement by BMO 

Harris. As Achey alleges in her complaint (at ¶ 32), it is the payday lender that initiates a debit 

on the ACH network, and the RDFI that actually takes the money from the borrower’s bank 

account. These entities have a relationship with the borrower through loan or account 

agreements, unlike an ODFI, which merely acts as an internal cog within the ACH network itself. 

For this reason too, Achey has failed to plead a viable civil RICO claim against BMO Harris. 
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D. Plaintiff Has Not Adequately Alleged That BMO Harris Knew Of The 
Purportedly Unlawful Conduct.

Achey also fails to plausibly allege that BMO Harris knew of the purportedly unlawful 

conduct by MNE Services and the Miami Tribe of Oklahoma. A defendant is liable under 

§ 1962(c) “only if it assisted . . . with knowledge of the illegal activities.” Andreo v. Friedlander, 

Gaines, Cohen, Rosenthal & Rosenberg, 660 F. Supp. 1362, 1370 (D. Conn. 1987). “Mere 

reckless disregard of the truth . . . does not justify a finding of RICO civil liability on the basis 

that the party participated in the illegal enterprise.” Id. 

Although Achey filed this case as a putative class action, she still must state a plausible 

claim in her own right. See, e.g., O’Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S. 488, 494 (1974) (“if none of the 

named plaintiffs purporting to represent a class establishes the requisite of a case or controversy 

with the defendants, none may seek relief on behalf of himself or any other member of the 

class”). But Achey does not plead any factual matter that addresses what BMO Harris 

purportedly knew about MNE Services, the Miami Tribe of Oklahoma, or the single $105 debit 

to her account that she alleges was unlawful. Achey does not even specify if BMO Harris had a 

direct Origination Agreement with MNE Services and the Miami Tribe of Oklahoma, as opposed 

to processing authorizations through a Third-Party Sender (which would make any purportedly 

illicit transactions even more difficult to detect because the Third-Party Sender might pass along 

authorizations as part of a larger pool from various merchant Originators). Without any such 

allegations, Achey does not state a plausible claim against BMO Harris. 

Instead of addressing the facts of her individual case, Achey makes a series of generic, 

industry-wide allegations involving all “Illegal Online Payday Lenders.” Achey alleges that

BMO Harris purportedly “knew the [lenders] were engaged in the business of making payday 

loans in states where payday lending was unlawful.” Compl. ¶ 65; see also ¶¶ 94-96 
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(substantively similar). This wholly conclusory assertion is plainly insufficient. See, e.g., Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 678 (“Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere 

conclusory statements, do not suffice.”); Luvdarts, LLC v. A T & T Mobility, LLC, 710 F.3d 

1068, 1072 (9th Cir. 2013) (relying on Iqbal to conclude that the plaintiff’s “conclusory 

allegations that the [defendant] had the required knowledge of infringement are plainly 

insufficient”).

Achey also alleges that ACH debits on behalf of payday lenders raise “red flags” which 

alert ODFIs to “potential” unlawful activity. Compl. ¶ 67. The only purported “red flag” 

identified by Achey is that “ACH debits originated at the request of [payday lenders] far exceed 

the return rate” of other electronic payments. Id. ¶ 69. But an ACH debit merely records the 

movement of money from one account to another (see id. ¶¶ 32-33); it does not disclose the 

nature of the underlying transaction or identify the parties’ state of residence. As Achey 

concedes, returns also happen for a variety of reasons. Id. ¶ 68. And as discussed above, if a 

Third-Party Sender is involved, the “return rate” for a particular merchant may be 

undecipherable. (Notably, the complaint is silent about MNE Services’s “return rate” and 

whether BMO Harris purportedly knew about it). 

In any event, with respect to knowledge, Achey’s allegations that BMO Harris should 

have known that her particular ACH debit was “potentially” unlawful does not sufficiently plead 

that BMO Harris had “knowledge of the [alleged] illegal activities,” which is required to sustain 

a civil RICO claim. Andreo, 660 F. Supp. at 1370 (reckless disregard of the truth is not sufficient 

to sustain liability under RICO). As such, Achey’s civil RICO claims should be dismissed.
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III. Plaintiff Fails To State Plausible State Law Claims.

A. Plaintiff Fails To State A Claim For Aiding And Abetting Violations Of 
Pennsylvania’s Maximum Interest Rate Statute And Consumer Credit 
Statute.

Achey alleges that BMO Harris aided and abetted MNE Services’s purported violations 

of Pennsylvania’s maximum interest rate statute, 41 Pa. Stat. §§ 201, 502, and consumer credit 

statute, 7 Pa. Stat. §§ 6203, 6213. See Compl., Counts IV-V. Each of these claims against BMO 

Harris fails because Achey has not plausibly alleged that BMO Harris knowingly aided and 

abetted the purported violations by MNE Services. 

Although Pennsylvania courts have yet to formally recognize a claim for aiding and 

abetting violations of these statutes, liability for aiding and abetting generally requires 

knowledge of the underlying violation. See, e.g., Walck v. Am. Stock Exch., Inc., 687 F.2d 778, 

791 (3d Cir. 1982) (stating that the elements of a claim for common law aiding and abetting are: 

“‘(1) that an independent wrong exist; (2) that the aider or abettor know of that wrong’s 

existence and (3) that substantial assistance be given in effecting that wrong.’”) (quoting Landy 

v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp., 486 F.2d 139, 162–63 (3d Cir. 1973)); Panthera Rail Car LLC v. 

Kasgro Rail Corp., 2013 WL 4500468, at *9-10, 16 n.20 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 21, 2013) (“A 

defendant who aids and abets a tort must know about the tortious plan and acted with the intent 

of facilitating that tort.”); Cummins v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 495 A.2d 963, 969 (Pa. 

Super. 1985) (“[O]ne is subject to liability [for aiding and abetting] if he . . . knows that the 

other’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance. . . .”). An inference 

of knowledge does not arise from a mere allegation that the defendant processed a transaction for 

the alleged wrongdoer. See, e.g., Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 888 (3d Cir. 1975) 
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(“The fact that [the defendant] may have performed as a transfer agent is not significant” in 

establishing the knowledge requirement “as this was purely a ministerial act.”).3

As discussed in Section II.D above, Achey does not plausibly allege that BMO Harris had 

knowledge of MNE Services’s purportedly unlawful conduct. Achey does not plead any facts 

that address what BMO Harris purportedly knew about MNE Services, the Miami Tribe of 

Oklahoma, or the single $105 debit to Achey’s account that she alleges was unlawful. The 

complaint contains only industry-wide allegations about “Illegal Online Payday Lenders” 

generally, and as discussed above, even those allegations are wholly conclusory. As a result, 

Achey fails to state a plausible claim that BMO Harris aided and abetted MNE Services’s 

purported violations of Pennsylvania’s maximum interest rate statute or consumer credit statute.

Achey’s claim involving Pennsylvania’s consumer credit statute also fails for an 

additional reason: the statute broadly exempts banks from its coverage. See 7 Pa. Stat. § 6217 

(“This act shall not apply to any person, persons, partnership, association or corporation 

operating under the laws related to banking institutions. . . .”). As Achey alleges, BMO Harris is 

a national banking association. Compl. ¶ 12. As a result, even if Achey adequately alleged that 

BMO Harris knew that the debit to her account was a repayment for a purportedly illicit loan, 

Achey still would not have a claim against BMO Harris under the consumer credit statute. 

                                                
3 In this brief, BMO Harris addresses Achey’s state law claims under Pennsylvania law because 
she appears to allege her claims under Pennsylvania law. Moreover, a choice of law analysis is 
generally required only where there is some material difference in the laws of the relevant states. 
See, e.g., Wachovia Sec., LLC v. Banco Panamerico, Inc., 674 F.3d 743, 751 n.4 (7th Cir. 2012). 
Like Pennsylvania, Illinois law on aiding and abetting liability similarly requires knowledge. 
See, e.g., Thornwood, Inc. v. Jenner & Block, 799 N.E.2d 756, 767-68 (Ill. App. Ct. 2003) (“In 
Illinois, a claim for aiding and abetting includes the following elements: ‘(1) the party whom the 
defendant aids must perform a wrongful act which causes an injury; (2) the defendant must be 
regularly aware of his role as part of the overall or tortious activity at the time that he provides 
the assistance; (3) the defendant must knowingly and substantially assist the principal 
violation.’”) (quoting Wolf v. Liberis, 505 N.E.2d 1202, 1208 (Ill. 1987)).
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B. Plaintiff Fails To State A Claim For Assumpsit. 

In her assumpsit claim, Achey seeks to recover from BMO Harris the entire amount of 

the funds debited from her account and the accounts of putative class members. See Compl. 

Count III (alleging that BMO Harris “benefited from receipt of the funds” and that because the 

funds are “no longer in the possession of BMO, Plaintiff has a right to restitution at law from 

BMO”). Achey’s claim is not viable because she has not pled any facts to support her conclusory 

allegation that BMO Harris benefited from purportedly receiving the funds. Instead, Achey 

alleges that BMO Harris simply moved the funds between her and her lender. 

An action for assumpsit, also called “money had and received,” is available “‘where one 

has . . . money which in equity and good conscience belongs and ought to be paid to another.’” 

Smith v. Industrial Valley Title Ins. Co., 1990 WL 112077, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 2, 1990) 

(quoting First Nat’l Bank v. Carroll Township, 27 A.2d 527, 530 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1942)). 

Moreover, as with aiding and abetting liability, a plaintiff is “obligated to plead that the 

defendants knew or should have known ‘that the money [paid to them] was procured by 

fraudulent means.’” In re Mushroom Transp. Co., Inc., 227 B.R. 244, 259 (E.D. Pa. Bankr. 1998) 

(quoting Solomon v. Gibson, 615 A.2d 367, 369 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1992)).

Achey’s assumpsit claim fails for two reasons. First, Achey does not allege that BMO 

Harris “has” (or ever meaningfully “had”) the funds that were purportedly debited from her bank 

account on behalf of MNE Services. To the contrary, Achey alleges that as an ODFI in the ACH 

network, BMO Harris simply transmits an ACH debit from a merchant to a customer’s bank and 

collects a transaction fee for its services. Compl. ¶ 79. Equity and good conscience cannot 

compel BMO Harris to “restore” the full amount of the alleged ACH debit when BMO Harris 

never “had” or benefitted from those funds in the first place. Second, as discussed in Sections 

II.D and III.A above, Achey has not plausibly alleged that BMO Harris knew that the single 
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$105 debit it allegedly processed on MNE Services’s behalf was procured through illegal or 

fraudulent means. Accordingly, Achey’s assumpsit claim fails.

C. Plaintiff Fails To State A Claim For Unjust Enrichment

Unlike assumpsit, Achey’s unjust enrichment claim is limited to the transaction fees that 

BMO Harris received for processing the purportedly illicit debit. Compl. ¶¶ 133-39. Achey 

alleges that her loan agreement violated Pennsylvania law, id. ¶¶ 133-34, and that BMO Harris 

purportedly “received and retained wrongful benefits from Plaintiff and the Sub-Class in the 

form of . . . transaction fees.” Id. ¶ 135. Achey’s unjust enrichment claim fails for two reasons. 

First, Achey has not alleged that she or any other borrower paid the transaction fees at issue. 

Second, Achey has not alleged any “direct dealings” with BMO Harris, as required to state a 

claim for unjust enrichment under Pennsylvania law.

To plead a claim for unjust enrichment, a plaintiff must show ‘“(1) benefits conferred on 

defendant by plaintiff, (2) appreciation of such benefits by defendant, and (3) acceptance and 

retention of such benefits under circumstances that it would be inequitable for defendant to retain 

the benefit without payment of value.” Sovereign Bank v. BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc., 533 F.3d 

162, 180 (3d Cir. 2008) (citing Limbach Co. v. City of Philadelphia, 905 A.2d 567, 575 (Pa. 

Commw. Ct. 2006)). Notably, “a claim for unjust enrichment requires more than a showing that 

the defendant may have benefited in some way from the disputed conduct.” Id. at 180-181. Thus, 

an indirect benefit is not enough to support an unjust enrichment claim. See CMR D.N. Corp. v. 

City of Philadelphia, 829 F. Supp. 2d 290, 306 (E.D. Pa. 2011) (citing Pittsburgh Baseball v. 

Stadium Auth., 630 A.2d 505, 510 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1993)). A plaintiff must have had “direct 

dealings” with the defendant. See Steffy & Son v. Citizens Bank of Penn., 7A.3d 278, 285 n.9 (Pa. 

Super. Ct. 2010) (affirming dismissal of unjust enrichment claim because plaintiff failed to 

sufficiently allege “direct dealings” between the parties, or that the defendant had misled the 
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plaintiff); Limbach Co., 905 A.2d at 577 (stating that the “real question” was whether the 

defendant had “direct dealings” with the plaintiff that induced the plaintiff to act).4

Achey’s unjust enrichment claim fails because she has not alleged that she conferred a 

benefit on BMO Harris or that she had any “direct dealings” with BMO Harris. Although Achey 

alleges in conclusory fashion that BMO Harris received transaction fees “from Plaintiffs and the 

Sub-Class,” Compl. ¶ 135, Achey never alleges that those fees were actually paid by her or other 

putative class members. If the transaction fees were paid by MNE Services, then BMO Harris 

was not conferred a benefit by Achey or other putative class members. Indeed, Achey does not 

allege that she had any direct relationship or other dealings with BMO Harris at all. To the 

contrary, Achey alleges that BMO Harris was a “middleman” chosen by her lender to process 

debits between the lender and her bank. Compl. ¶ 6. As a result, Achey fails to state a plausible 

unjust enrichment claim against BMO Harris.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the complaint against BMO Harris should be dismissed 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)-(7) and 19.   

                                                
4  As with aiding and abetting liability, Illinois law on both assumpsit and unjust enrichment is 
the same as Pennsylvania law.  See, e.g., Drury v. McLean County, 433 N.E.2d 666, 670 (Ill. 
1982) (“An action for money had and received in the nature of an action in assumpsit is 
maintainable where defendant has received money which in equity and good conscience belongs 
to the plaintiff.”); HPI Health Care Servcs., Inc. v. Mt. Vernon Hosp., Inc., 545 N.E.2d 678-79 
(Ill. 1989) (“To state a cause of action based on a theory of unjust enrichment, a plaintiff must 
allege that the defendant has unjustly retained a benefit to the plaintiff's detriment, and that 
defendant's retention of the benefit violates the fundamental principles of justice, equity, and 
good conscience”; a cause of action which much be supported by allegations that are more than 
“merely conclusory.”). 
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